
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 

HOUSTON DIVISION 

  
EVERGREEN MEDIA HOLDINGS, LLC and 
TONY DEROSA-GRUND 

 VS. 

WARNER BROS. ENTERTAINMENT, INC. 
and NEW LINE PRODUCTIONS, INC.  

§
§
§
§
§
§
§
§

CIVIL ACTION NO.  14-CV-793 

 

 

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

 
PLAINTIFFS’ ORIGINAL COMPLAINT AND JURY DEMAND 

Plaintiffs, EVERGREEN MEDIA HOLDINGS, LLC and TONY DEROSA-GRUND, file this 

Original Complaint against Defendants, WARNER BROS. ENTERTAINMENT, INC. and NEW LINE 

PRODUCTIONS, INC., jointly and severally, as follows: 

Introduction 

1. This action is brought on the basis of Defendants’ failure to compensate Plaintiffs 

and to properly credit Tony DeRosa-Grund (“Mr. DeRosa-Grund”) in connection with motion 

pictures based on certain paranormal investigation case files of world renowned paranormal 

investigators Ed and Lorrain Warren.  In particular, Mr. DeRosa-Grund has spent significant 

time and substantial financial resources identifying and developing the Warren's approximately 

8,000 paranormal investigation case files (the “Case Files”) for motion picture and television 

production, among other things, along with the incredible and unique life stories of the Warrens.   

2. In 2010, Plaintiffs agreed to grant New Line Productions, Inc. (“New Line”) an 

option to produce only theatrically released motion pictures based on an agreed upon, but very 

limited, selection of the Case Files – i.e., less than one percent (1%) of the total number of Case 

Files – and the Warrens’ life stories, in exchange for a purchase price for each theatrical 

production or use of those select Case Files as well as a crediting and employing Mr. DeRosa-
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Grund as producer,  individually, and  crediting Evergreen Media Holdings, LLC, a Texas 

limited liability company (“Evergreen”), corporately, for each aforementioned theatrical 

production.   

3. Plaintiffs and New Line successfully developed and produced a hit theatrical 

motion picture entitled “The Conjuring” based on one of the selected Case Files.  Defendants, 

however, now seek to reap all of the profits from “The Conjuring” while denying their financial 

obligations to Plaintiffs and failing to pay any profits to Plaintiffs.  New Line has acted in bad 

faith and breached its agreements with Plaintiffs by, among other things, failing to pay for the 

underlying rights and stealing those rights to make additional films, both theatrical films covered 

by the agreements as well as direct-to-video films that are not covered by the agreements, 

without compensating Plaintiffs or including Mr. DeRosa-Grund as a producer.   

4. Of particular urgency, Plaintiffs are informed and believe that New Line has 

developed, produced, and completed production of a motion picture entitled “Annabelle” based 

on a different selected Case File, i.e., not the Case File related to “The Conjuring,” as well 

having commenced development, completed a script, and started pre-production on  a theatrical 

motion picture sequel to “The Conjuring.”  Plaintiffs are informed and believe, and therefore 

allege, that Defendants intend to either release “Annabelle” as a theatrical motion picture without 

properly compensating Plaintiffs for these rights and without properly crediting Mr. DeRosa-

Grund, or, alternatively, release “Annabelle” as a direct-to-video production, which Defendants 

do not have the contractual right to do.  Although New Line previously paid Plaintiffs the initial 

purchase price for the underlying rights to produce the original “The Conjuring” theatrical 

motion picture, New Line has refused to pay Plaintiffs for the rights to produce  any sequel 

(namely, the completed “Annabelle” and  announced “The Conjuring” sequel productions) and 
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has refused to include Mr. DeRosa-Grund as a producer and to credit him individually, or credit 

Evergreen corporately, for any sequel which is outside the rights granted to New Line by 

Plaintiffs.   Consequently, this action is also brought by Plaintiffs against Defendants to establish 

that Defendants have converted or misappropriated the underlying rights to such theatrical, 

direct-to-video and sequel motion pictures, and to address the fact that without this Court's 

intervention Defendants will not include Mr. DeRosa-Grund as a producer and credit him.  As 

Defendants have misappropriated the rights to produce an “Annabelle” motion picture and any 

sequel of the “The Conjuring” without compensating Plaintiffs and without including Mr. 

DeRosa-Grund as a producer and crediting him, Defendants have no right to continue with the 

production of a theatrical or direct-to-video “Annabelle” motion picture or any sequel of “The 

Conjuring” as a theatrical motion picture.  

5. As set forth in this Complaint, and based on the foregoing and following, this is 

an action for breach of contract, breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, 

fraud in the inducement, promissory estoppel, conversion, declaratory judgment, and violation of 

Section 43(a) of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a).    

Parties 

6. Evergreen is a Texas limited liability company with its headquarters and principal 

place of business in Montgomery County, Texas. 

7. Mr. DeRosa-Grund is a resident of Montgomery County, Texas.     

8. Warner Bros. Entertainment, Inc. is a California corporation that transacts 

business in Montgomery County, Texas with a headquarters and principal place of business in 

California.   It may be served with process by serving its registered agent, CT Corporation 

System, 1999 Bryan Street, Suite 900, Dallas, Texas 75201-3136. 
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9. New Line Productions, Inc. is a California corporation that transacts business in 

Montgomery County, Texas with a headquarters and principal place of business in California.  It 

may be served with process by serving its registered agent, CT Corporation System, 1999 Bryan 

Street, Dallas, Texas 75201-3136.  

Jurisdiction and Venue 

10. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action under federal 

diversity jurisdiction, 28 U.S.C. § 1332, as the parties are completely diverse in citizenship and 

the amount in controversy exceeds $75,000.  This Court also has jurisdiction pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. §§ 2201, et seq. (declaratory judgment act), 1331 (federal question), §1338(a) (acts of 

Congress relating to trademarks) and 28 U.S.C. § 1367 (supplemental jurisdiction over state 

claims).   

11. Personal jurisdiction over the non-resident Defendants is proper because this 

lawsuit arises from, was connected with an act or transaction, and relates to the purposeful acts 

of the non-resident Defendants in Texas, and those purposeful acts are directed towards Texas.  

The assumption of jurisdiction by this Court over the non-resident Defendants does not offend 

traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice. 

12. Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) because Defendants 

reside in or have a principal place of business in this judicial district and because Defendants are 

subject to personal jurisdiction in this district. 

Conditions Precedent 

13. All conditions precedent necessary to maintain this action have been performed, 

have been waived, or have occurred. 
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Factual Allegations 

14. Mr. DeRosa-Grund is a motion picture producer, and the principal of Evergreen.   

15. Plaintiffs have known Ed Warren (now deceased) and Lorraine Warren for nearly 

twenty-three (23) years. Throughout that period, Mr. DeRosa-Grund held thousands of hours of 

discussions with the Warrens about their Case Files.  Indeed, during those thousands of hours, 

Mr. Warren, in particular, would propose and discuss with Mr. DeRosa-Grund various Case Files 

that he felt were particularly suitable for a feature theatrical motion picture.  

16. Approximately fifteen (15) years ago, Mr. DeRosa-Grund and Mr. Warren 

specifically discussed a Case File relating to the “Perron Farmhouse.”  During this conversation, 

which was recorded, Mr. DeRosa-Grund revealed his strategy and vision to develop and produce 

a theatrical motion picture based on the “Perron Farmhouse” Case File.  It was this conversation, 

as reflected in the recording, and, in particular, Mr. DeRosa-Grund’s strategy and vision, that 

ultimately developed into and became the basis for Mr. DeRosa-Grund’s written story and 

treatment based on the “Perron Farmhouse” Case File, all of which was used as the foundation 

and basis of the hit theatrical motion picture “The Conjuring.” 

17. After Mr. DeRosa-Grund created, conceived, and authored the story and treatment 

of the “Perron Farmhouse” Case File, Mr. DeRosa-Grund created the “The Conjuring” 

trademark.  Mr. DeRosa-Grund intended “The Conjuring” trademark to be used in connection 

with a franchise that would not be limited to the production of just one of the Case Files, but 

numerous others.  Thus, the “Perron Farmhouse” Case File was intended to merely be the first of 

many Case Files used in various productions featuring “The Conjuring” trademark; indeed, Mr. 

DeRosa-Grund intended to, among other things, create a series of supernatural/horror theatrical 
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motion pictures as well as direct-to-video productions, a television series and comic book series 

all using the “The Conjuring” trademark which he, alone, created and used. 

18. Approximately five (5) years ago, Mr. DeRosa-Grund formally, and exclusively, 

acquired the Warrens’ “life rights” as well as the Case Files.  Mr. DeRosa-Grund then sought to 

sell the aforementioned story and treatment, as well as the Warrens’ life rights and Case Files, in 

conjunction with a feature motion picture series using “The Conjuring” trademark that he had 

created.   

19. Prior to entering into an agreement with Defendants, Plaintiffs worked with two 

screenwriters, Chad Hayes and Carey Hayes, to take Plaintiffs’ aforementioned story, treatment, 

and the recording of Mr. DeRosa-Grund’s conversation with Mr. Warren and turn the foregoing 

into a “pitch” and, finally, a formal script.  Defendants ultimately entered into a deal with Chad 

and Carey Hayes, during which time Defendants received copies of Plaintiffs’ aforementioned 

story, treatment, and recording.  Accordingly, Defendants were acutely and actually aware that 

Mr. DeRosa-Grund’s original story and treatment were not only the underlying foundation and 

basis for the screenwriters’ work, they were also aware that “The Conjuring” trademark was 

wholly and singularly the creation of Mr. DeRosa-Grund and belonged, exclusively, to him.  

A. The Agreements with New Line 

20. On or around March 29, 2010, Evergreen and New Line1 entered into the Option 

Quitclaim Agreement, dated as of November 11, 2009 (the "OQA").  Pursuant to the OQA, New 

Line acquired an option to purchase motion picture rights to an agreed upon, and very limited, 

                                                 
1  New Line operates as a subsidiary of New Line Cinema LLC which in turn is operates as a subsidiary of Warner 
Bros. Warner Bros. financed the production and marketing of THE CONJURING. Warner Bros. "Greenlight 
Committee" was the entity that approved the production budget of THE CONJURING for New Line as well as 
authoring New Line to produce the picture. Warner Bros. distributed THE CONJURING in theaters domestically 
and internationally, as well as for worldwide television, DVD and video on demand. All of Plaintiff's profit 
participation statements are generated and accounted for by Warner Bros. 
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selection of the Case Files, i.e., less than one percent of the Case Files, and to the life stories of 

the Warrens.  In particular, from the approximately 8,000 Case Files, it was agreed that New 

Line would select a limited number of Case Files, including the “Perron Farmhouse” and 

“Annabelle” Case Files, for theatrical motion picture development.  In exchange, New Line 

agreed to pay Plaintiffs a purchase price amount (the “Purchase Price”) and a percentage of the 

adjusted gross receipts of any motion picture made pursuant to the OQA.   

21. Evergreen and New Line also entered into the Producer Loanout Agreement on or 

around March 31, 2010, also dated as of November 11, 2009 (the “Producer Agreement,” and 

collectively with the OQA, the “Agreements”), for the producer services of Mr. DeRosa-Grund 

in connection with “The Conjuring” theatrical motion picture.  New Line agreed to engage and 

credit Mr. DeRosa-Grund as a producer in connection with any motion picture made pursuant to 

the Agreements. 

22. After entering into the OQA, New Line and Lorraine Warren entered into a direct 

deal for any rights held by Lorrain Warren.  Evergreen agreed to an amendment of the OQA to 

allow for this new direct deal based on New Line’s assurances that the OQA and Producer 

Agreement would remain the same and that Evergreen’s rights and benefits would not change at 

all.  On that basis, the parties executed an “Amendment #1” to the OQA, entered into on or 

around February 7, 2011, and dated as of October 19, 2010 (the “Amendment”).    

23. Under the Amendment, New Line was required to select a maximum of twenty-

five (25) Case Files for theatrical motion picture development upon receiving summaries of the 

Case Files prepared by Plaintiffs.  However, although New Line promptly received the 

summaries of the Case Files, New Line, in violation of the Agreements, willfully delayed 
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selecting their allotted case files for development and subsequently sought to improperly change 

its selection of the Case Files.   

 

24. Pursuant to the Agreements, which were entered into in Texas and California, 

New Line produced the theatrical motion picture, “The Conjuring,” based on the aforementioned 

“Perron Farmhouse” Case File.  Pursuant to the Agreements, New Line paid Plaintiffs the initial 

Purchase Price for “The Conjuring” theatrical motion picture prior to commencing principal 

photography. “The Conjuring” theatrical motion picture was released on or around July 19, 2013, 

and was hugely successful, grossing over $318,000,000 worldwide to-date.  With a production 

budget of approximately $20,000,000, “The Conjuring” theatrical motion picture has been 

reported to be one of the most profitable theatrical motion picture films of 2013.    

B. Evergreen’s Reserved Rights in Television, Comic Books, and Graphic Novels 

25. Paragraph 8 of the OQA contains an express reservation of rights to Evergreen 

regarding exploitation of the Case Files in connection with television, comic books, graphic 

novels, and related merchandising, soundtrack recording, video game, commercial tie-ups, home 

entertainment, and music publishing.   

26. Additionally, Paragraph 4A of the OQA expressly provides Evergreen with 

reversion rights to all underlying rights to “The Conjuring” in the event that New Line does not 

produce a subsequent theatrical motion picture based on the Case Files within seven years after 

the release of “The Conjuring,” or make a minimum payment to Evergreen.  Thus, if New Line 

does not make a theatrical motion picture within seven years of the release of “The Conjuring,” 

or pay Evergreen the minimum amount, then New Line loses the right to continue to make 
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motion pictures based on the Case Files, and such rights would revert and belong solely to 

Evergreen.   

C. Evergreen’s Rights to the Name "The Conjuring" 

27. It is indisputable that the Agreements do not provide for any transfer from 

Plaintiffs to Defendants of trademark rights in general or specifically with regard to “The 

Conjuring” name and trademark (the “Name”), which Plaintiffs created approximately fifteen 

(15) years ago.  The absence of any transfer is understandable inasmuch as Evergreen has used 

“The Conjuring” as the brand name of the entire franchise.  In particular, Evergreen has used the 

Name to refer to all of the approximately 8,000 Case Files that are to be used in connection with 

any and all of Evergreen’s rights, and not just to the “Perron Farmhouse” Case File that was used 

for “The Conjuring” theatrical motion picture. New Line acquired only the limited right to 

develop and produce only theatrically released motion pictures based on the twenty-five (25) 

Case Files selected by New Line.  In addition, Evergreen agreed that upon New Line’s request, it 

would withdraw, or transfer to New Line, any registration it may have with the Motion Picture 

Association of America (“MPAA”) for the Name as a single theatrical motion picture title.  

Except for this concession regarding the Name with regard to a MPAA single theatrical motion 

picture title registration, Evergreen retained the sole and exclusive rights to the Name, including 

the trademark rights to the Name.  At no point did Evergreen agree to anything that would 

otherwise limit its ability to freely use the Name for its reserved rights under the Agreements.   

28. New Line drafted the OQA, and it does not include a transfer of trademark rights 

in the Name from Evergreen to New Line, because it was never the parties’ intent to transfer 

such rights.  The only limitations on Evergreen’s exploitation of its reserved rights are expressly 

listed in the Agreements, and the Agreements do not contain any limitation on Evergreen’s use 
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of the Name in connection with its reserved rights.  Thus, all rights in the Name were reserved to 

Evergreen. 

29. Consistent with its retention of rights to the Name, and at New Line’s request, 

Evergreen has taken action to protect the Name against improper and unlawful use by third 

parties, including an unauthorized attempt by Silver Pictures, Inc. (“Silver Pictures”) to use the 

Name.  In that instance, Evergreen sent several cease and desist letters to Silver Pictures 

demanding that it stop using the Name.  Those letters to Silver Pictures stated unequivocally that 

Evergreen had the right to use the Name as the title for a motion picture.  Not only were 

Defendants aware that Evergreen took such action against Silver Pictures, but Defendants never 

objected to Evergreen’s rights in the Name or otherwise attempted to enforce its purported rights 

in the Name.   

30. Additionally, on May 3, 2012, Evergreen filed applications to register the Name 

as a trademark in the United States Patent and Trademark Office (the “PTO”), applications Serial 

No. 85/616,146 and Serial No. 85/616,159.  Defendants knew that they did not have any 

trademark rights in the Name and thus never filed trademark applications for the Name prior to 

Evergreen filing its applications.  On May 16, 2013, Evergreen also registered the titles “The 

Conjuring 2-6” and “The Conjuring Part II-Part VI” with the MPAA in contemplation of any 

sequels or prequels to “The Conjuring,” thus protecting Evergreen’s rights in the Name if such 

theatrical motion picture rights reverted to Evergreen.   

31. In blatant disregard for Evergreen’s rights to the Name under the OQA and its 

filing of the aforementioned applications to register the Name as a trademark, on May 31, 2013, 

Defendants filed their own applications to register the Name with the PTO in multiple categories, 

including, inter alia, entertainment services, toys and games, clothing, paper goods, and motion 
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picture films.  Defendants have also filed an application to register the Name as a title with the 

MPAA.   

D. The Proposed Television Show 

32. Pursuant to their reserved television rights under the Agreements, Plaintiffs have 

sought to develop a television series based upon the Case Files.  It is undisputed that Evergreen 

has the sole right to create a television series based upon the Case Files. 

33. However, the OQA provides New Line with a right of first negotiation/last refusal 

in connection with such a television series if New Line elects to enter into negotiations with 

Evergreen for such rights.  Accordingly, in or about September 2012, Mr. DeRosa-Grund sent a 

written request to New Line presenting them the opportunity for New Line to develop a 

television series based upon the Case Files.  Initially, New Line ignored the notification.  

Plaintiffs again contacted New Line.  Eventually, New Line unequivocally stated that it was not 

interested in developing a television series based on the Case Files because it was not in the 

television industry and it was unwilling to work with Mr. DeRosa-Grund on any future television 

project based on the reserved television rights.  Thus, New Line expressly waived the first 

negotiation/last refusal rights under the Agreements.  New Line then took steps to block all 

communications from Mr. DeRosa-Grund, effectively making it impossible for him to present 

further information regarding the development of the television series.   

34. Accordingly, after providing adequate notice, and in reliance on New Line’s 

unequivocal refusal, in or about January 2013, Evergreen entered into a contract with Lionsgate 

Entertainment ("Lionsgate") for the production of a proposed television show entitled “The 

Conjuring.”  The proposed television show was not based on the Case Files selected by New 
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Line pursuant to the Agreements, but rather on the remaining unused Case Files and an original 

teleplay created by Mr. DeRosa-Grund.   

35. On May 9, 2013, Craig Alexander, Senior Vice President and Head of Business 

and Legal Affairs at New Line, telephoned Sandra Stern, Chief Operating Officer at Lionsgate, 

to advise Lionsgate that its planned use of the Name as a title for a television series would violate 

New Line’s alleged rights to the Name.  Mr. Alexander knew that Lionsgate had an agreement to 

make a television series with Evergreen and never raised a claim that the first negotiation/last 

refusal provision had been breached because he knew that New Line previously waived that 

provision.   

36. On May 20, 2013, Kavita Amar, Senior Counsel of Business and Legal Affairs at 

New Line, wrote a letter to Ms. Stern to follow up on that conversation.  In that letter, New Line 

expressly set forth its alleged rights to the title and asserted that “Lionsgate’s planned use of ‘The 

Conjuring’ title steps over the line and threatens New Line’s extensive common law trademark 

and related rights.”  New Line further demanded that “Lionsgate abandon its plan to use ‘The 

Conjuring’ title for its upcoming television series.”  New Line was well aware that Plaintiffs 

were the ones who actually have had the common law trademark rights in, and to, the Name for 

over fifteen years.  Indeed, New Line has previously acknowledged that Plaintiffs used the 

common law trademark in commerce for years, namely, in their attempts to sell the right to 

produce “The Conjuring” with other studios prior to their dealings with New Line.  Moreover, 

New Line made no mention at all of any claimed breach of the first negotiation/last refusal 

provision in the OQA.  Plaintiffs are informed and believe, and therefor allege, that New Line 

did not have television production operations and that New Line asserted rights regarding 

television for the benefit of Warner Bros. 
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37. After receiving the letter, Lionsgate informed Plaintiffs that it would not go 

forward with the production of the television show because of New Line’s letter.  More 

specifically, Ms. Stern sent an e-mail to Plaintiffs’ counsel, dated July 10, 2013, which stated 

that Lionsgate was not prepared to defend a legal dispute and asked Plaintiffs to clear up the 

rights to the proposed use of the Name in connection with a television series.  Ms. Stern stated 

that unless New Line conceded the matter or agreed not to dispute Lionsgate’s use of the Name 

as the title for the television series, Lionsgate would not proceed with the television project.  

Accordingly, after New Line contacted Lionsgate regarding New Line’s purported rights to the 

Name, Lionsgate refused to go forward with the proposed television show.  As a direct 

consequence of Defendants’ deliberate actions and interference, Evergreen is unable to collect 

the compensation owed under its agreement with Lionsgate and has suffered monetary damages 

that reach well into the millions of dollars.   

E. Payments Under the Agreements 

38. Paragraph 5 of the OQA provides that Evergreen is entitled to contingent 

compensation in the event that “The Conjuring” theatrical motion picture exceeds certain box 

office receipts.  Similarly, Paragraph 5 of the Producer Agreement provides that Evergreen is 

entitled to additional payments/deferments in the event that “The Conjuring” exceeds certain box 

office receipts.   

39. Although “The Conjuring” has undisputedly achieved such box office receipt 

thresholds, and despite Plaintiffs’ repeated demands, Defendants have refused to pay the 

contingent compensation that he is owed under Paragraph 5 of the OQA and the additional 

payments/deferments owed under Paragraph 5 of the Producer Agreement.   
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40. Defendants also initially refused to provide Plaintiffs with profit participation 

payments as required by the Agreements. In particular, Paragraph 5(b) of the Producer 

Agreement provides for participation payments to Evergreen in “[a]n amount equal to 5% of 

100% of the Defined Gross of ‘The Conjuring’ in excess of the Contractual Start Point on a 

moving basis” as defined in Exhibit A to the Producer Agreement.  Plaintiffs have requested the 

profit participation payment owed under the Producer Agreement.  However, in addition to 

refusing to pay Plaintiffs the contingent compensation under the Agreements, Defendants have 

indicated that they will not provide any payment of profit participation under the Producer 

Agreement and therefore are in breach of the Agreements. 

F. Other Motion Pictures Based on the Case Files 

41. After releasing the “The Conjuring” theatrical motion picture, Plaintiffs believe 

and are informed that Defendants have, developed, produced, and completed production on a 

motion picture production currently entitled “Annabelle,” based on the “Annabelle” Case File.  

In particular, it has been reported that the story line in “Annabelle” includes a demonic doll in 

the possession of the Warrens, which was described in the “Annabelle” Case File.  It has also 

been reported that production of “Annabelle” began on or about January 27, 2014, in Los 

Angeles, California.   

42. After learning that Defendants intended to produce “Annabelle,” Plaintiffs 

contacted Defendants in or around January 2014 to confirm Defendants’ payment of the 

Purchase Price for the production and development of the “Annabelle” Case File pursuant to the 

parties’ Agreements.  Astonishingly, although Defendants admitted that they were producing 

“Annabelle,” Defendants refused to pay anything to Evergreen in connection with the 
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production.  Additionally, Defendants indicated that they intended to produce “Annabelle” as a 

direct-to-video production rather than a theatrical production for distribution in theaters.  

However, Defendants have no contractual right to produce any direct-to-video productions 

pursuant to the parties’ Agreements.  Moreover, recent motion picture industry reports on 

“Annabelle” indicate that it may actually be distributed by Defendants as a theatrical motion 

picture release, contrary to their prior statements to Plaintiffs.  

43. Accordingly, Defendants have misappropriated Plaintiffs’ rights in the 

“Annabelle” Case File and the life rights of the Warrens in connection therewith without 

compensating Plaintiffs.  Payment was due to be made to Plaintiffs in Texas.  Plaintiffs have no 

right to continue with the production of “Annabelle.”  In addition, Defendants’ unauthorized 

production of “Annabelle” as a direct-to-video production, rather than a theatrical motion picture 

production, will cause immediate and irreparable harm to Plaintiffs.  In particular, Defendants’ 

unauthorized direct-to-video production will devalue Plaintiff’s intellectual property rights in the 

unique “Annabelle” Case File, and prevent Plaintiffs from exploiting their reserved rights, 

including the right to produce a television series, based on the “Annabelle” Case File.  Thus, 

Defendants’ production will cause immeasurable harm to Plaintiffs, including usurping 

Plaintiffs’ right to exploit their intellectual property.   

44. Additionally, Plaintiffs are informed and believe, and recent reports indicate, that 

Defendants intend to produce a theatrical motion picture sequel to “The Conjuring.”  Defendants 

have already announced a release date of October 23, 2015.   

45. However, Defendants have not provided any payment to Plaintiffs in connection 

with the underlying rights to produce another motion picture based on the Case Files. 

Furthermore, despite previously representing and agreeing that Mr. DeRosa-Grund would be a 
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producer in connection with all projects based on New Line’s selected Case Files, Defendants 

have refused to engage Mr. DeRosa-Grund’s producer services, to compensate him for the rights, 

or to provide him with a producer credit, or Evergreen Corporate credit, in connection with the 

anticipated sequel to “The Conjuring,” “Annabelle,” or any other prequel, sequel, remake, or 

spinoff of “The Conjuring.”   

46. Indeed, New Line had previously represented to Evergreen that it would be 

entitled to profit participation as the producer for any motion picture based on the Case Files.  In 

negotiations for the Agreements, Evergreen requested that the profit participation provision be 

included in the OQA, as well as the Producer Agreement, but New Line insisted that it never 

included profit participation in rights deals.  However, based on a recently filed action against 

New Line by Miramax, LLC (“Miramax”), which attaches the rights agreement between New 

Line and Miramax for the motion picture, “The Hobbit,” Evergreen now knows that this 

statement and representation by the Defendants was blatantly false, and that New Line does, in 

fact, grant profit participation within the scope of rights agreements, contrary to what they told 

the Plaintiffs.  These negotiation tactics were done in bad-faith with the intent to deceive and 

induce Evergreen into granting New Line certain theatrical motion picture rights without the 

compensation that Evergreen sought.  In any event, New Line represented to Evergreen that the 

profit participation provision would be included in the Producer Agreement, and that Evergreen 

would receive the same profit participation payments regardless because Mr. DeRosa-Grund 

would be tied as the producer to any and all motion pictures based upon the Case Files.   

47. Thus, Defendants misrepresented that Mr. DeRosa-Grund would be tied as the 

producer to any motion pictures based on the Case Files and that Evergreen would be entitled to 

the same profit participation payments.  Now, in addition to refusing to pay Evergreen the 
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additional payments/deferments and contingent compensation that Evergreen is owed under the 

Agreements, Defendants have refused to engage Mr. DeRosa-Grund as the producer for the 

subsequent motion pictures based on the Case Files and failed to pay Evergreen the profit 

participation it is owed under the Agreements.  

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION: BREACH OF CONTRACT 

(Against Defendant New Line Productions, Inc.) 

48. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference the factual allegations contained in the 

preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein. 

49. The Agreement, namely, the OQA, as amended by the Amendment, and the 

Producer Agreement, are valid, binding and enforceable contracts.  Plaintiffs performed all of 

their obligations under the Agreements, and all conditions for New Line’s performance have 

occurred.   

50. By engaging in the above-referenced conduct, including but not limited to: 

(i) failing to timely select specific files from the Case Files for development and subsequently 

seeking to change its selection; (ii) filing applications to register the Name with the PTO and the 

MPAA; (iii) failing to pay Plaintiffs the additional payments/deferments that they are owed 

under Paragraph 5 of the OQA, the compensation owed to Plaintiffs for exploitation of the Case 

Files, and the contingent compensation they are owed under Paragraph 5 of the Producer 

Agreement; (iv) producing a direct-to-video production such as the “Annabelle” for which New 

Line has no rights to do; and (v) failing to provide Plaintiffs with the profit participation 

payments they are owed under the Producer Agreement, New Line has breached the Agreements.   

51. As a direct and proximate result of New Line’s breach, Plaintiffs have been 

damaged in an amount to be determined at the final hearing in this matter. 
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SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION: BREACH OF THE IMPLIED COVENANT  
OF GOOD FAITH AND FAIR DEALING 

 
(Against Defendant New Line Productions, Inc.) 

52. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference the factual allegations contained in the 

preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein. 

53. There is implicit in every contract an implied covenant of good faith and fair 

dealing.  The Agreements contain an implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing under 

which the parties must refrain from arbitrary or unreasonable conduct which has the effect of 

preventing the other party to the contract from receiving the fruits of that bargain. 

54. Plaintiffs have duly performed all covenants, conditions and promises required to 

be performed by them under the Agreements in accordance with the terms and conditions, except 

for those obligations that have been prevented, delayed, or excused by acts or omissions of New 

Line. 

55. In particular, Mr. DeRosa-Grund fully performed his producer services in 

connection with the production of “The Conjuring.”  Nevertheless, New Line has engaged in an 

ongoing pattern and practice of attacking, seeking to intimidate, and threatening to punish Mr. 

DeRosa-Grund, as well as trying to minimize his pivotal role with “The Conjuring,” simply 

because he has insisted upon enforcing his contractual rights.  For example, in written 

correspondence to Mr. DeRosa-Grund, New Line threatened to reduce Mr. DeRosa-Grund’s 

contractual credits on “The Conjuring” in direct response to Plaintiffs’ attempts to enforce 

Plaintiffs’ rights under the Agreements.  In addition, New Line purposely disseminated public 

relations stories with fabricated scenarios about the origins of “The Conjuring” that intentionally 

omitted reference to Mr. DeRosa-Grund, refused Mr. DeRosa-Grund access to screenings of 

“The Conjuring,” reneged on numerous representations including promises for payment of travel 
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expenses, and severed all communications with Mr. DeRosa-Grund, including refusing to 

provide him with production information.   

56. Although it has been reported, and New Line has publicly confirmed in the press, 

that, in addition to a sequel to “The Conjuring,” New Line has completed production on 

“Annabelle” (another motion picture based on the Case Files), and despite Mr. DeRosa-Grund 

having performed all required producer services and New Line having never terminated Mr. 

DeRosa-Grund’s producer services, New Line has refused to employ Mr. DeRosa-Grund as a 

producer in connection with the anticipated “The Conjuring 2” sequel to “The Conjuring” or 

“Annabelle” or to pay Plaintiffs anything for its use of the Case Files or materials provided to 

New Line or used in the “Annabelle” production.  Instead, New Line has indicated that it will 

utilize the services of a producer that Mr. DeRosa-Grund brought into the production of “The 

Conjuring” or will pay Plaintiffs nothing while at the same time using the intellectual property 

materials provided to New Line by Plaintiffs.  In addition, New Line has failed to provide Mr. 

DeRosa-Grund with the profit participation payments he is owed under the Agreements. 

57. New Line acquired the rights to develop and produce sequels and remakes to 

“The Conjuring,” as well as other theatrical motion pictures based on the Case Files, under the 

Agreements.  In addition, New Line agreed to utilize Mr. DeRosa-Grund’s producer services in 

connection with such projects.  New Line has acted arbitrarily and unreasonably in: (i) failing to 

pay Mr. DeRosa-Grund all compensation he is owed under the Agreements; (ii) failing to 

provide Mr. DeRosa-Grund with the profit participation payments he is owed under the 

Agreements; and (iii) refusing to employ Mr. DeRosa-Grund as a producer in connection with 

the sequel to “The Conjuring,” “Annabelle,” and any and all other motion pictures based on the 

Case Files. 
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58. New Line has acted in bad faith and prevented Plaintiffs from receiving the fruits 

of the bargain under the Agreements.   

59. Accordingly, by engaging in the above-referenced conduct, New Line has 

breached the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing.   

60. As a direct and proximate result of New Line’s breach, Plaintiffs have been 

damaged in an amount to be determined at the final hearing in this matter.   

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION: TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE WITH  
BUSINESS RELATIONS 

 
(Against All Defendants) 

 
61. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference the factual allegations contained in the 

preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein. 

62. At all relevant times, there were in effect valid contracts between Plaintiffs and 

Lionsgate for the production of a television show entitled “The Conjuring.”  Defendants knew of 

Plaintiffs’ contract with Lionsgate and knew that the television show was not based on rights 

granted exclusively to Defendants, but Defendants nevertheless intentionally interfered with 

Plaintiffs’ contract with Lionsgate and induced Lionsgate to breach its contractual relationship 

with Plaintiffs.   

63. In particular, Mr. Alexander and Ms. Amar at New Line contacted Lionsgate and 

advised Lionsgate that its planned use of the Name as a title for a proposed television series 

would violate New Line’s alleged rights.  Moreover, New Line falsely claimed that the proposed 

television series was based on rights granted exclusively to Defendants.  Lionsgate subsequently 

informed New Line and Plaintiffs that it would not go forward with the production of the 

television show because of Defendants’ threats.   
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64. Accordingly, despite Lionsgate’s agreement to purchase rights for the television 

project from Plaintiffs and employ Plaintiff as Executive Producer for said project, it refused to 

proceed with its agreement with Plaintiffs and with the development of the television show after 

Defendants falsely represented it had rights that precluded Lionsgate from proceeding with a 

television series.   

65. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ interference with Plaintiffs’ 

contract with Lionsgate, including falsely representing their rights to Lionsgate, Plaintiffs have 

been damaged in an amount to be determined at the final hearing in this matter.   

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION: FRAUD IN THE INDUCEMENT 
 

(Against All Defendants) 
 

66. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference the factual allegations contained in the 

preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein. 

67. During negotiations for the Agreements, New Line made representations relating 

to Mr. DeRosa-Grund’s producer services in connection with any and all motion pictures based 

on the Case Files.  In particular, Defendants, through Mr. Alexander, represented that Mr. 

DeRosa-Grund would be tied as the producer to any motion picture based on the selected Case 

Files, including but not limited to any sequels, prequels, spin-offs, or remakes to “The 

Conjuring.” Moreover, Mr. Alexander represented that New Line never included provisions 

tying any producer to multiple motion pictures in a producer loanout agreement, but that 

nevertheless, here Mr. DeRosa-Grund would be tied as a producer to any motion picture based 

on the selected Case Files.  In addition, New Line represented that it never included profit 

participation provisions in a rights agreement, but that Evergreen would be equally entitled to 
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profit participation payments under the Producer Agreement because Mr. DeRosa-Grund would 

be tied as a producer to any projects based on the Case Files.   

68. Defendants, however, never had any intention of utilizing Mr. DeRosa-Grund as a 

producer in connection with any sequels to “The Conjuring” or other pictures based on the Case 

Files.  Indeed, although it has been reported that Defendants are developing a sequel to “The 

Conjuring” and other motion pictures based on the Case Files, Defendants have failed to utilize 

Mr. DeRosa-Grund as a producer in connection with such pictures.  Rather, Defendants have 

contracted with a producer that Mr. DeRosa-Grund brought to Defendants in connection with 

“The Conjuring” to produce the sequel.  Moreover, Defendants are stealing the rights to make 

these projects without paying Plaintiffs for those rights and it is now clear that Defendants never 

had any intention of paying Evergreen the profit participation provided for under the 

Agreements.   

69. Defendants made these false representations with the intent to induce Plaintiffs to 

rely upon them and, more specifically, to induce Mr. DeRosa-Grund to enter into the 

Agreements.  All the while, Defendants knew that they would not utilize Mr. DeRosa-Grund as a 

producer in connection with any sequels or other pictures relating to “The Conjuring.”   

70. The foregoing conduct and actions of Defendants are part of a repeated pattern of 

behavior and deliberate scheme perpetrated by Defendants to unlawfully reap the rewards and 

profits of successful theatrical motion pictures based on the rights of Plaintiffs and others.  This 

aforementioned pattern and scheme is clearly evident from an action recently brought against 

Defendants by Miramax, LLC, Harvey Weinstein and Robert Weinstein in New York, Miramax, 

LLC, et al v. New Line Cinema Corporation (Index No. 161383/2013; Supreme Court of the 
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State of New York, County of New York), wherein those plaintiffs raise similar disturbing 

allegations with respect to three filmed installments of J.R.R. Tolkein's “The Hobbit.”  

71. Plaintiffs did indeed rely upon New Line’s false representations by entering into 

the Agreements and by providing Mr. DeRosa-Grund’s producer services for “The Conjuring,” 

despite the fact that Defendants never had any intention of allowing Mr. DeRosa-Grund to 

provide producer services for any other picture or of paying for those services or the relevant 

rights.  Plaintiffs’ reliance upon Defendants’ false representations was justified because 

Defendants represented that it never included provisions tying a producer to sequels or related 

motion pictures in a producer loanout agreement.  Accordingly, Plaintiffs had no way of 

knowing that Defendants’ representations were false.   

72. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ conduct, Plaintiffs have been 

damaged in an amount to be determined at the final hearing in this matter.  Additionally, as a 

consequence of Defendants' fraud in inducing Plaintiffs to enter into the Agreements, Plaintiffs 

seek rescission of the Agreements, thus preventing any further exploitation of the Case Files by 

Defendants, including the production of any sequel to “The Conjuring,” “Annabelle,” or any 

other motion picture based upon the Case Files.   

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION: PROMISSORY ESTOPPEL 
 

(Against All Defendants) 
 

73. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference the factual allegations contained in the 

preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein. 

74. Defendants promised that they would tie Mr. DeRosa-Grund to sequels and all 

other motion pictures related to “The Conjuring,” and that they would pay for those rights.  

Because Defendants knew that Mr. DeRosa-Grund would not enter into the Agreements or serve 
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as a producer on “The Conjuring” if he were not tied to any and all other motion pictures based 

on the Case Files, or if the rights were not paid for, it was reasonable and foreseeable that 

Plaintiffs would rely on Defendants’ promises. Indeed, Plaintiffs reasonably relied on 

Defendants’ promises by entering into the Agreements and providing the case files and Mr. 

DeRosa-Grund’s producer services in connection with “The Conjuring.”   

75. After Plaintiffs performed all of their obligations under the Agreements, including 

producing “The Conjuring,” Defendants breached their promise to Plaintiffs by failing to employ 

Mr. DeRosa-Grund’s producer services in connection with the anticipated sequel to “The 

Conjuring” or other reported motion pictures based on the Case Files.   

76. As a result of Plaintiffs’ reasonable reliance on Defendants’ promise, Plaintiffs 

suffered injury.  Plaintiffs will suffer injustice unless Defendants’ promises are enforced.   

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION: CONVERSION 
 

(Against All Defendants) 
 

77. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference the factual allegations contained in the 

preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein. 

78. Pursuant to the OQA, New Line agreed to pay Plaintiffs the Purchase Price and a 

percentage of the adjusted gross receipts of any motion picture made pursuant to the 

Agreements.  Warner Bros. is to collect revenues and account to Plaintiffs on all projects 

pursuant to the Agreements. 

79. Although Defendants have developed, produced and completed production on the 

motion picture “Annabelle” based on the “Annabelle” Case File, Defendants have refused to pay 

Plaintiffs the Purchase Price for the underlying rights to “Annabelle.”  In particular, in or around 

January 2014, Plaintiffs requested confirmation of Defendants’ payment of the Purchase Price 
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for the production and development of the “Annabelle” Case File pursuant to the parties’ 

agreement.  However, Defendants refused to pay anything to Evergreen in connection with the 

production of “Annabelle.”  

80. In addition, Plaintiffs believe and are informed that Defendants are producing a 

sequel to “The Conjuring,” and have already announced a release date for said sequel, but have 

failed to pay Plaintiffs the Purchase Price for the underlying rights to such a picture.   

81. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ conversion of the underlying 

rights to “Annabelle” and the sequel to “The Conjuring,” including the “Perron Farmhouse” and 

“Annabelle” Case Files and the life rights of the Warrens, Plaintiffs have suffered, and will 

continue to suffer, damages in an amount to be determined at trial, but which exceed the 

minimum jurisdictional amount of this Court. 

82. Defendants’ acts alleged above were willful, wanton, malicious, and oppressive, 

and justify the awarding of exemplary and punitive damages. 

SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION: DECLARATORY JUDGMENT 
 

(Against All Defendants) 
 

83. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference the factual allegations contained in the 

preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein. 

84. An actual and justiciable controversy has arisen and now exists between Plaintiffs 

and Defendants concerning their respective rights and duties, in that: (A) Plaintiffs contend that: 

(i) Plaintiffs have the right, title, or interest to the use of the Name, including without limitation, 

as the title of a television series; (ii) Plaintiffs have trademark rights in the Name for use in 

connection with exploitation of the materials and Case Files reserved by Plaintiffs and Plaintiffs 

have the right to file trademark applications with the PTO for the Name; and (iii) Plaintiffs have 
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the right to file applications with the MPAA for the “The Conjuring,” “The Conjuring 2-6,” and 

“The Conjuring Part II-VI” as movie titles; (B) Defendants have failed to pay Plaintiffs all 

compensation and payments due under the Agreements, including the Purchase Price; 

(C) Defendants have no right to develop and produce projects based on the Case Files, including, 

but not limited to, any sequel to “The Conjuring” and “Annabelle;” (D) pursuant to Paragraph 13 

of the OQA, the Agreements are terminated, including any arbitration provisions are terminated, 

and all rights revert back to Plaintiffs; and (E) to the extent that Defendants do develop and 

produce any other pictures based on the Case Files, Plaintiffs have the right to provide their 

producer services in connection with such pictures and receive all compensation and credits as 

negotiated under the Agreements.  In addition, Plaintiffs contend that Defendants dispute these 

contentions and contend otherwise. 

85. Accordingly, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2201, Plaintiffs are entitled to a declaratory 

judgment that: (i) Plaintiffs have the right, title, or interest to the use of the Name, including 

without limitation, as the title of a television series; (ii) Plaintiffs have trademark rights in the 

Name for use in connection with exploitation of the materials and case files reserved by 

Plaintiffs, and have the right to file applications with the PTO for the Name; (iii) Plaintiffs have 

the right to file applications with the MPAA for the “The Conjuring,” “The Conjuring 2-6,” and 

“The Conjuring Part II-VI” as movie titles; (iv) Defendants have failed to pay Plaintiffs all 

compensation and payments due under the Agreements, including the Purchase Price; 

(v) Defendants have no right to develop and produce projects based on the Case Files, including, 

but not limited to, any sequel to “The Conjuring” and “Annabelle;” (vi) pursuant to Paragraph 13 

of the OQA, the Agreements are terminated, including any arbitration provisions are terminated, 

and all rights revert back to Plaintiffs; and (vii) to the extent that Defendants do develop and 
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produce any other pictures based on the Case Files, Plaintiffs have the right to provide their 

producer services in connection with such pictures and receive all compensation and credits as 

negotiated under the Agreements.   

EIGHTH CAUSE OF ACTION: VIOLATION OF SECTION 43(a) 
OF THE LANHAM ACT 

  
(Against All Defendants) 

 
86. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference the factual allegations contained in the 

preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.   

87. At the time the parties entered into the OQA, Defendants were aware that Mr. 

DeRosa-Grund had written the original story and treatment that ultimately became the basis for 

the “The Conjuring” screenplay and motion picture production.  Defendants, a signatory to the 

Writers Guild of America (“WGA”), had a proactive obligation to submit Mr. DeRosa-Grund’s 

aforementioned story and treatment to the WGA for the purposes of a “Story by” credit and 

associated separated rights, which would require the Defendants to accord Mr. DeRosa-Grund 

additional contingent compensation for same.  Not only did Defendants refuse to submit Mr. 

DeRosa-Grund’s story and treatment to the WGA, in conjunction with the release of “The 

Conjuring,” Defendants engaged in an intentional, willful, and deliberate campaign in the media 

and press designed to purposefully hide and obscure the source of origin of the “The Conjuring,” 

namely, to hide from consumers and the public that the original story and treatment of “The 

Conjuring,” as well as the Name, had been created, developed and owned by Mr. DeRosa-Grund.  

88. Plaintiffs were contractually entitled to credit in connection with “The Conjuring” 

and all productions created based upon the Case Files.  Defendants have willfully failed to afford 

Plaintiffs such credit.   
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89. By reason of the foregoing, Defendants have violated and continue to violate 

Section 43(a) of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a).  As a result of Defendants’ foregoing 

unlawful conduct set forth herein, Plaintiffs have suffered damages, as well as the continuing 

loss of the goodwill and value of the Name, Plaintiffs themselves as a writer and producer, and 

of Plaintiffs’ rights in general.  The continuing loss of goodwill cannot properly be calculated 

and thus constitutes irreparable harm and an injury for which Plaintiffs have no adequate remedy 

at law.  Plaintiffs will continue to suffer irreparable harm unless this Court enjoins Defendants' 

conduct. 

90. Defendants’ unauthorized and unlawful conduct has also deprived and will 

continue to deprive Plaintiffs of the ability to control the consumer perception of its rights in 

connection with the Case Files and the Name. 

91. Defendants had direct and full knowledge of Plaintiffs’ rights as set forth above 

and before the acts complained of herein.  The knowing, intentional and willful nature of the acts 

set forth herein renders this an exceptional case under 15 U.S.C. § 1117(a).   

Relief 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs, EVERGREEN MEDIA HOLDINGS, LLC and TONY DEROSA-

GRUND, request that this Court grant the following relief, jointly and severally, against 

Defendants, NEW LINE PRODUCTIONS, INC. and WARNER BROS. ENTERTAINMENT, INC.: 

a. Entering a declaratory judgment that: (i) Plaintiffs have the right, title, or interest 

to the use of the Name, including without limitation, as the title of a television series; 

(ii) Plaintiffs have trademark rights in the Name for use in connection with exploitation of the 

materials and case files reserved by Plaintiffs, and have the right to file applications with the 

PTO for the Name; (iii) Plaintiffs have the right to file applications with the MPAA for the “The 
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Conjuring,” “The Conjuring 2-6,” and “The Conjuring Part II-IV” as movie titles; 

(iv) Defendants have failed to pay Plaintiffs all compensation and payments due under the 

Agreements, including the Purchase Price; (v) Defendants have no right to develop and produce 

projects based on the Case Files, including, but not limited to, any sequel to “The Conjuring” and 

“Annabelle;” (vi) pursuant to Paragraph 13 of the OQA, the Agreements are terminated, 

including any arbitration provisions are terminated, and all rights revert back to Plaintiffs; and 

(vii) to the extent that Defendants do develop and produce any other pictures based on the Case 

Files, Plaintiffs have the right to provide their producer services in connection with such pictures 

and receive all compensation and credits as negotiated under the Agreements.   

b. Awarding Plaintiffs all damages suffered by Plaintiffs; 

c. Awarding Plaintiffs recovery of punitive damages in an amount set by the trier of 

fact, including interest at the maximum rate allowed by law; 

d. Awarding an accounting to Plaintiffs for the gains and profits of Defendants and 

all damages sustained by Plaintiffs by reason of Defendants’ unlawful acts as alleged herein 

pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1117(a); 

e. Awarding Plaintiffs damages under 15 U.S.C. § 1117, together with Defendants’ 

profits and revenue, and such other damages as the Court determines to be fair and appropriate, 

as well as Plaintiffs' costs of the action and reasonable attorneys fees; 

f. Awarding Plaintiffs treble damages as allowed by law; 

g. Awarding pre-judgment and post-judgment interest as allowed by law;  

h. Enjoining and restraining Defendants from proceeding with development and 

production of the motion picture currently entitled “Annabelle,” based on the “Annabelle” Case 

File and the life rights of the Warrens, and/or any other production based upon the Case Files 
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and/or the life rights of the Warrens;  

i. Awarding Plaintiffs any other remedy to which it may be entitled to as provided 

under applicable federal or state law; and   

j. Awarding Plaintiffs such other and further relief as the Court might deem proper. 

Jury Demand 

 Pursuant to Rule 38 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Plaintiffs hereby demand a 

jury trial on all triable issues. 

 
Dated: March 28, 2014   
 
      Respectfully submitted, 
      
       
 
      By: __/s/ Sanford L. Dow                                            
       Sanford L. Dow 
       S.D. Texas No. 17162 
       Texas Bar No. 00787392 
       Nine Greenway Plaza, Suite 500 
       Houston, Texas 77046 
       (713) 526-3700/FAX (713) 526-3750 
       dow@dowgolub.com 
      
      ATTORNEY-IN-CHARGE FOR PLAINTIFFS 
 
 
OF COUNSEL: 
 
DOW GOLUB REMELS & BEVERLY, LLP 
Stephanie A. Hamm 
S.D. Texas No. 108779  
Texas Bar No. 24069841 
Nine Greenway Plaza, Suite 500 
Houston, Texas 77046 
(713) 526-3700/FAX (713) 526-3750 
sahamm@dowgolub.com  
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